

Combating Coercion Through Influence in The Maritime Sphere

By Cassidy Sneikus

Cassidy Sneikus attended the Sea Power Centre as part of the ANU Internship Program

SERVICE	COURAGE

OUR VALUES





© Commonwealth of Australia 2021

This work is copyright. You may download, display, print, and reproduce this material in unaltered form only (retaining this notice and imagery metadata) for your personal, non-commercial use, or use within your organisation. This material cannot be used to imply an endorsement from, or an association with, the Department of Defence. Apart from any use as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, all other rights are reserved.

SERVICE

COURAGE

OUR VALUES RESPECT

INTEGRITY

EXCELLENCE



Executive Summary

This paper aims to understand coercion theory in an international framework, and thus how Australia can combat offensive compellence through influence in the Indo-Pacific. The first section will discuss maritime-based international theory that covers sea power and diplomacy, as well as focusing on coercion theory. As a result of this, a maritime coercion framework was created to unify various contested literature with a focus on the international rules-based order, differentiating offensive compellence, defensive compellence, deterrence and diplomacy. The second section will apply this framework to maritime events that have occurred across history after the creation of the United Nations Charter. This includes an analysis on the Battles of Yeonpyeong, the Kuwait invasion, Malacca Straits Patrol, and Operation Sumatra Assist. Thirdly, this paper will give two recommendations on how to combat offensive compellence in the current international system following a discussion on the current climate in the Indo-Pacific. The first recommendation states that the Royal Australian Navy with support from the Australian government needs to review and update Australia's maritime strategy. Secondly, Australia needs to strengthen vulnerabilities in shipping routes by building alliances.

Acknowledgements

This paper would not be possible without the support, assistance and insights of my supervisor, Commander Richard Adams, and the director of the Sea Power Centre-Australia, Captain Sean Andrews. I was truly lucky to have incredible experts available to discuss all my ideas and questions, no matter how deep or trivial. A special thank you to all of the staff, especially the Department of Strategic and Historical Studies, who assisted me throughout my internship at the Sea Power Centre.

I am forever grateful to Laurence Brown and the entire ANIP team for organising my placement with SPC-A. This has been an invaluable experience that I am extremely thankful for.

OUR VALUES







Contents

Executive Summary	3	
Acknowledgements	3	
Introduction	5	
Section 1: Understanding coercion in a maritime context	6	
Section 2: Coercion is history	9	
Case Study I – Offensive compellence – The Battles of Yeonpyeong	9	
Case Study II – Defensive compellence – Persian Gulf War	10	
Case Study III – Deterrence – Malacca Straits Patrol	11	
Case Study IV – Diplomacy – Operation Sumatra Assist	12	
Section 3: Responding to coercion through influence	13	
Recommendations	15	
Recommendation 1: Review and update Australia's Maritime Strategy	15	
Recommendation 2: Strengthen vulnerabilities in shipping routes through allia	ance-building	16
Conclusion	17	

SERVICE

COURAGE

OUR VALUES

RESPECT

INTEGRITY





Introduction

Conflicting concepts across international relations theory have given rise to many different definitions and explanations of coercion theory. Even less present in literature is coercion theory that is directly relevant to maritime operations and international order. As Australia continues to develop and expand its naval resources, it will be important to analyse how those resources can be used to combat aggressive and coercive force effectively.

With the growing tensions in the Indo-Pacific and the increasing significance placed on maritime power as a result of this, it is important to discuss the role of maritime coercion as it has existed and will continue to evolve. This paper aims to move away from state versus state coercion theory to its significance within an international framework, and thus how Australia can combat offensive compellence through influence in the Indo-Pacific. The first section will discuss maritime-based international theory that covers sea power and diplomacy, as well as focusing on coercion theory. As a result of this, a maritime coercion framework was created to unify various contested literature with a focus on the international rules-based order, differentiating offensive compellence, defensive compellence, deterrence and diplomacy. The international rules-based order refers to the purposes and principles of the United Nations Charter, the shared commitment nearly all states have made to maintain international peace and security.¹

In addition, this paper will aim to explore the rich history of maritime coercion and influence, while proving its relevance in security today. The second section will apply the maritime coercion framework to maritime events that have occurred in the period following the creation of the United Nations Charter. This includes an analysis of the Battles of Yeonpyeong, the Kuwait invasion, Malacca Straits Patrol, and Operation Sumatra Assist. The third section aims to provide realistic recommendations for Australia – how to combat offensive compellence without sacrificing the international rules-based order and moral legitimacy, and highlighting the importance of naval power through the use of influence, a shared commitment to good order, and collective security within the Indo-Pacific. The first recommendation asserts that the Royal Australian Navy (RAN), with support from the Australian government, needs to review and update Australia's maritime strategy to alleviate tensions in the Indo-Pacific and show its commitment to regional stability. Secondly, Australia needs to strengthen vulnerabilities in shipping routes by building alliances, to prevent and deter disruptions, as well as strengthening multilateral partnerships.

OUR VALUES





Section 1: Understanding Coercion in a Maritime Context

The RAN defines coercion as 'the use of force, or the threat of force, to persuade an opponent to adopt a certain pattern of behaviour, against their wishes'.² Coercion is a heavily used tool in international relations theory and is often analysed in scholarly literature to be applicable broadly. The most influential work that defines coercion theory is arguably *Arms and Influence* by Thomas Schelling.³ Schelling divides coercion theory into two sectors – compellence and deterrence – to separate the threat of action as opposed to the initiation of action.⁴ While both sectors differ in methodology, the intent is the same, which is to give the recipient a choice, whether that is to escalate or retreat.⁵

Coercion theory continued to evolve and develop, with coercive diplomacy, blackmail strategy, gunboat diplomacy and deterrence theory finding their relevance within both international relations and the maritime space.⁶ Another notable contributor to coercion theory, Alexander George, differentiated between offensive and defensive coercive threats, which he labelled as blackmail strategy and coercive diplomacy respectively.⁷ George argues Schelling's definitions of compellence do not allow for the differentiation, although he agrees with the idea that coercion still requires the recipient to decide on the path forward.⁸

From an understanding of coercion theory by these two key thinkers, the relation between coercion theory within international relations and sea power becomes clearer. The capability of sea power to affect and coerce states was alluded to as early as the 1890s when Rear Admiral Alfred Mahan identified six key elements that affect sea power: (i) Geographical Position, (ii) Physical Conformation, (iii) Extent of Territory, (iv) Number of Population, (v) Character of the People, and (vi) Character of the Government.⁹ While the world has dramatically changed since Mahan created his definition of sea power, his influence is far reaching. Some authors such as James Cable focus on a narrow definition of sea power encompassing solely military power, whereas others such as Ken Booth delve into the importance of non-traditional maritime power, such as international law and diplomacy.¹⁰

OUR VALUES





Geoffrey Till wrote:

Sea power is not simply about what it takes to use the sea (although that is obviously a prerequisite). It is also the capacity to influence the behaviour of other people or things by what one does at or from the sea.¹¹

Consequently, it can be inferred that coercion strategy in the maritime domain is an extension of sea power, that is, the ability to shape or change a state's behaviour, against a challenging state's wishes, based on particular use of maritime resources. The maritime system is incredibly complicated, especially for Australia, which relies on maritime strategy for many strategic goals or national interests, such as communication networks, humanitarian aid and trade.¹² Thus, a broad definition of sea power, as reflected in the RAN's *Australian Maritime Doctrine*, better suits the needs and capabilities of Australia, whose maritime capabilities are more than pure naval power.¹³

The maritime domain is strengthened through the international system, rather than domestic-based law. For example, North Korea has not been able to change its Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZs) from those determined by the United Nations.¹⁴ The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) exerts a determining effect upon the international rules-based order.¹⁵ Everything from states' EEZs and the boundaries of territorial waters, to the regulation of neutral international waters, are governed and regulated by international law.¹⁶ It is important to recognise that UNCLOS was still not implemented when many early coercion or sea power theorists published their work, such as Schelling, Booth and George.¹⁷

Furthermore, coercion theory, including maritime theory such as gunboat diplomacy, is usually focused on state versus state interplay, such as one power against another. This makes it difficult to apply these definitions to an international system, in which states take part in collective security over individual security. Moreover, states may instigate coercion to protect the international rules-based order, rather than their individual state sovereignty, due to the globalised nature of the world. Consequently, narrowly defined theories, such as coercive diplomacy, are difficult to apply to this paper.

I propose a maritime coercion framework (see Figure 1), which better suits the vulnerabilities that are occurring within the international system.



Soundings



OFFENSIVE COMPELLENCE

Shifting away from IRBO

Using maritime threats and/or force as a means to challenge the international rules-based order, or exert hostility towards other states

e.g., entering other state's EEZs, militarisation of fishing vessels, disrupt maritime activity

DETERRENCE Maintaining IRBO

Using maritime threats and/or resources as a means to deter actors from disrupting the international rules-based order, or influencing them to maintain it.

e.g., inverse blockades, naval exercises, protection of EEZs

Figure 1: The Maritime Coercion Framework.

DEFENSIVE COMPELLENCE Shifting towards the IRBO

Using maritime threats and/or force as a means to compel noncompliant actors to return to the international rules-based order.

e.g., blockades, increasing maritime capacity, establishing maritime militia

DIPLOMACY

Preserving IRBO

Using maritime resources and spheres of influence to prevent disruptions to the international rules-based order and contribute to collective security e.g., maritime law, collective security, alliance-

building, aid

This framework was created with the international rules-based order forming the immediate centre to which all coercive activity revolves around. As George spoke about shifting of status quo, reframing was required to position coercive activity within the four movements; shifting away, shifting towards, maintaining or preserving the international-rules based order. As maritime missions are becoming increasingly multilateral (rather than using singular state assistance), such as humanitarian aid response or United Nations sanctioned blockades, this framework enables activity post 1945 to be recognised in all its complexity, including multiple stakeholders.

In reference to early coercion theory, the typology reflects the position of Schelling that deterrence and compellence are two separate features of coercive behaviour, split between the use of threats to compel, or physical force against the recipient.¹⁸ However, it also recognises the research by George that compellence should be split into offensive and defensive types of coercion that differ from deterrence, as displayed in the framework as offensive compellence and defensive compellence.¹⁹ However, the framework still rests on the concept outlined by both academics, that all aspects are still reliant on the fact that the recipient makes the choice, whether that is to escalate to a higher use of force, or de-escalate through diplomatic measures.²⁰

OUR VALUES





Finally, diplomacy is listed under the maritime coercion framework, as its actions have the ability to coerce unwilling states to preserving the international order. For example, in 2021 the Association of Southeast Asian Nations, a multilateral alliance, chose to ban Myanmar's military chief, who was responsible for the military coup in February of that year, from attending its annual summit.²¹ This demonstrates that actions within diplomatic capabilities, such as alliances, can be a contributing factor to coerce unlawful or aggressive states that are challenging the international rules-based order to shift back towards it. Furthermore, humanitarian action can coerce states that may have differing opinions on the value of the giving state, through the provisions of immediate support and aid, such as Pacific Island states accepting aid from Australia, even though they disapprove of Australia's climate policies.²²

Section 2: Coercion is History

This section aims to apply the maritime coercion framework to particular case studies, taken from Appendix A, and demonstrate how coercion and influence have been used through sea power. The case studies are limited to the period following the creation of the United Nations, as this framework relies on the international system as the formative standard on a shared commitment to the international rules-based order.²³

Case Study I – Offensive Compellence – The Battles of Yeonpyeong

The Battles of Yeonpyeong in 1999 and 2002 are defined as offensive compellence within the coercion framework, as the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (DRPK or North Korea) chose maritime force as a means to challenge an internationally recognised maritime border.

The Northern Line Limit (NLL) is a maritime boundary created by the United Nations Command on 30 August 1953 to separate the territorial waters of DRPK and the Republic of Korea (ROK or South Korea).²⁴ The boundary led to brief diplomatic conflict, with DRPK protesting twice in the 1970s about the conditions of the NLL, and declared the sea surrounding the five islands off the coast of the Korean peninsula as its territory; no formal arbitration occurred.²⁵

The first of the Yeonpyeong battles occurred on 15 June 1999 after a North Korean torpedo boat initiated fire on a South Korean boat.²⁶ After the South Korean ships returned fire, the North Korean vessels withdrew to safety, resulting in 30 DPRK soldiers killed and two of its ships sunk.²⁷ The second battle,





on 29 June 2002, resulted in higher casualties for the ROK navy, with five dead, 22 wounded and one ship sunk.²⁸

Labelling the Battles of Yeonpyeong as offensive compellence does not denote the objectives of the DRPK to be wrong, merely its maritime actions. The battles, both occurring in June, coincided with the peak of the blue crab fishing season, a major source of income for North Korea that has been disrupted by the maritime boundary and illegal Chinese fishing.²⁹ Secondly, the NLL was financially untenable, due to the cost in redirecting shipping around the NLL, as well as security costs due to the close proximity of ROK maritime vessels.³⁰

However, rather than progressing with diplomatic measures to rework the boundaries, the DPRK employed 'bullying' tactics by using maritime vessels to invade the boundaries set out by the United Nations Command.³¹ Initially beginning as a display of force, the escalation into using naval force is disruptive to both state and regional peace and security.³² The DPRK's refusal to cooperate was a display of hostility towards both the international system and the Republic of Korea.

Case Study II – Defensive Compellence – Persian Gulf War

After Iraq's invasion of Kuwait without provocation on 2 August 1990, the RAN Operation DAMASK, within the Maritime Interception Force (MIF 1), used defensive compellence to coerce Iraq back towards the international rules-based order.³³

As Kuwait requested assistance, states were legally permitted to respond and participate in the Maritime Interception Force under Article 51 of the UN Charter, which states the permissibility of 'collective self-defence'. ³⁴ On 25 August, this was reinforced by the United Nations Security Council passing Resolution 665, which called on member states to deploy naval forces to the Arabian Gulf to assist with the execution of sanctions. ³⁵ Resolution 665 specifically authorised the use of naval resources to intercept incoming and outgoing maritime shipping.³⁶

The Maritime Interception Force, a coalition of 17 states including Australia, was deployed to the Arabian Gulf to conduct warnings, interrogate intercepted crew and board vessels to check for compliance.³⁷ UN Resolution 661 called on states to enforce bans on commodities, goods or products that leave or enter Iraq, excepting humanitarian aid such as food or medical supplies.³⁸





The Persian Gulf War continued for 43 days, during which Australian warships under Operation DAMASK defended other nations' aircraft carriers, provided logistical support, and intercepted vessels that were sailing towards Iraq.³⁹

These actions are labelled as defensive compellence as they are in a response to an action that had already occurred: invested states are choosing to prevent escalation that would further disrupt peace and security within the international system. Furthermore, the most force used by over 95 warships was several warning shots, demonstrating that maritime forces can be used to coerce compliance without engaging in combat.⁴⁰

By conforming to the United Nations Charter under Article 51, these actions can be perceived by the international system as legally justifiable.⁴¹ This is especially due to the Maritime Interception Force primarily existing to enforce the United Nations sanctions in a constabulary position within the limitations of the Resolution, as opposed to imposing its own self-determining interests.⁴²

Case Study III – Deterrence – Malacca Straits Patrol

Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand formed the Malacca Straits Patrol (MSP) in 2004 as a deterrence mechanism to reduce piracy and ensure the security and safety of all vessels and personnel using the Straits of Malacca.⁴³

The MSP incorporates several frameworks – regular maritime patrols under the Malacca Straits Sea Patrol and air surveillance over the waterways via 'Eyes-in-the-Sky' that provides additional support for maritime efforts.⁴⁴ In addition, there is also the MSP Intelligence Exchange Group, formed so states can engage and share information and intelligence instantly, negating miscommunication and improving response times when a threat occurs.⁴⁵

According to the *Piracy and Armed Robbery Against Ships in Asia Annual Report 2020*, 34 piracy attacks occurred within the Straits of Malacca and Singapore (SOMS).⁴⁶ Although the incidents have fallen dramatically in numbers since 2015, an increase in attacks from 2019 has become more concerning for the states that rely on the shipping channels for trade and transport.⁴⁷ The Straits of Malacca are critical to ensuring nearly 50 per cent of the world's maritime trade reaches its destination in a timely manner, and any disturbances can cause consequences in the supply chains that are responsible for trade such as commodities, food and energy.⁴⁸





Deterrence is essential to ensuring that piracy in the Malacca Straits and Singapore remains low. Notably, the majority of piracy incidents that occurred in 2019 targeted unmanned barges, towed by tugboats whose crews were oblivious of what was occurring.⁴⁹ Moreover, the perpetrators were unarmed in all attacks in 2019, demonstrating that small-scale, invisible and petty theft is easier for pirates to accomplish than armed large-scale robberies, which would result in a quick response time by the MSP.⁵⁰

With the Malacca Straits having the reputation as the 'most dangerous waters', deterrence is essential as a defensive measure to maintain peace and security, ensure the safety of all vessels and crew, and through projection, a method to coerce piracy actors to abandon theft before they begin.⁵¹

Case Study IV – Diplomacy – Operation Sumatra Assist

After the 2004 Boxing Day earthquake and tsunami off the coast of Indonesia, HMAS *Kanimbla* sailed to provide aid, support and assistance to those most heavily affected by the natural disasters.

On 26 December, several tsunamis triggered by an earthquake crashed into 12 states, causing over 225,000 fatalities, with the dominant damage impacting Indonesia.⁵² The Landing Platform Amphibious (LPA) HMAS *Kanimbla* was immediately sent to northern Sumatra with the Combined Joint Task Force 629, designed to support four capabilities – aid, engineering, medical and air lift.⁵³ The *Kanimbla* provided 3700 medical treatments and 4.7 million litres of clean water to displaced communities, alongside other states' contributions to the relief response.⁵⁴

Diplomatic measures are essential to building trust and resilience in the international community, especially when emergencies arise and Australia comes to the aid of its neighbours. Although the *Review of the Defence Annual Report 2003–2004* found that the benefits of 'Defence Assistance to the Civil Community' were primarily in personnel training, diplomatic missions also reduce the severity of community conflict.⁵⁵ As Greet asserts, 'displaced populations can . . . exacerbate internal crises', indicating disasters such as tsunamis and earthquakes can disturb regional security.⁵⁶ HMAS *Kanimbla* carried a detachment of engineers, which enabled a joint force to deliver clean water and basic sanitary measures for badly affected areas in Aceh.⁵⁷

A fast response was essential to ensuring that further destruction and aggravation in Indonesia were minimised, whether they be spurred on by malnutrition, disease or conflict.⁵⁸ The Free Aceh Movement, a violent separatist group, had been in combat with the Indonesian government since 1976, and were operating in the hardest hit areas of the tsunami.⁵⁹ Quick relief of exacerbating factors such as





malnutrition, damaged infrastructure and unclean water, as well as the presence of Issue : 44 | 2022Australian troops, helped to defuse tensions in the area.⁶⁰

Using aid and support as a diplomatic tool provides states with the opportunity to maintain peace and security as scripted in the United Nations Charter, and therefore preserve the international rules-based order.⁶¹

Section 3: Responding to coercion through influence

As outlined in Appendix A, and expanded in Case Study I, offensive compellence has been consistently used by states as a methodology under sea power to influence state behaviour and challenge the international rules-based order.⁶² For Australia, offensive compellence is most relevant in terms of China's actions in the South China Sea.⁶³

China's coercive measures in the South China Sea can be classified as offensive compellence, as China is using its maritime militia in direct violation of the ruling of the Permanent Court of Arbitration in The Hague.⁶⁴ In 2016, the Court found that China had no claim to resources or maritime territory 'falling within the "nine-dash-line", including the sea areas within other states' EEZs.⁶⁵ The most prevalent use of power in defiance of this verdict is China's continued use of maritime militia to enter the EEZs of other countries in an attempt to harass and intimidate ASEAN fishermen.⁶⁶

The impact of China's offensive compellence within the South China Sea is damaging to global peace and security for multiple reasons. Firstly, the continual infiltration into other states' EEZs, regardless of international law, is leading to rising hostilities in the region.⁶⁷ Growing tensions and an increasing constabulary presence from all states in the South China Sea can lead to a greater risk of open warfare occurring, for example, through an accidental misfire from both China or the defending state in question.⁶⁸ Secondly, supply chains and significant shipping routes may be threatened using coercive maritime means, such as using maritime militias, employing aggressive Coast Guard actions, or targeting foreign vessels that enter Chinese waters for trade purposes by potentially disrupting the flow of supplies and trade.⁶⁹

The asymmetry of maritime power is an intensifying issue in the South China Sea.⁷⁰ The extensive capabilities of China's sea power in all three key areas of maritime forces – military, diplomatic and constabulary – creates a power imbalance against smaller states in the Indo-Pacific.⁷¹ An individual state with a smaller economy, militia, population and international presence than China presents a very little challenge.⁷² Australia, as a middle power, also faces an asymmetrical power imbalance against China.





When describing the influence of deterrence, Thomas Schelling wrote:

Coercion depends more on the threat of what is yet to come than on damage already done. The pace of diplomacy, not the pace of battle, would govern the action; and while diplomacy may not require that it go slowly, it does require that an impressive unspent capacity for damage be kept in reserve.⁷³

Thus, in order to deter effectively, small or middle power states such as Australia require more strength behind their threats in order to coerce a state, which is highly impractical when that state holds more power.⁷⁴ Although some argue that sea denial can be achieved through strengthening international law, states such as China usually achieve their strategic objectives through offensive compellence, having little regard for international law when it does not fit their national interests.⁷⁵ International law is integral to hold as a diplomatic precedent, but cannot be solely relied upon as a strategy to deter; China's complete rejection of The Hague's ruling on the South China Sea demonstrates this.⁷⁶

A key similarity of most case studies under the maritime coercion framework is multilateralism, whether that was responding to offensive compellence or wielding defensive compellence, deterring other states or being involved within diplomatic efforts.⁷⁷ This is demonstrative of the United Nations Charter, which the majority of states adhere to, that is, 'to take effective collective measures for the prevention and removal of threats to the peace'.⁷⁸ Collective security and cooperation have been recognised as vital to combating asymmetrical power in the region.⁷⁹

This supports the point that states that use offensive compellence to achieve their strategic objectives are usually not supported by the majority of the international system (see examples in Appendix A). This is because states that resort to offensive compellence are usually disrupting peace and security and challenging the international rules-based order.

Bilateral and multilateral partnerships have been key to establishing trust and strengthening relationships between states that wish to maintain the international rules-based order. The support given to the Republic of Korea by the United Nations Command, or the multi-state force needed to combat Iraq, reveals the importance of international security over state versus state based conflict. ⁸⁰ Often, international law, such as the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, is used in maritime territories and accordingly usurps domestic law, as demonstrated by the Northern Limit Line, and again with the dismissal of the nine-dash-line.⁸¹ Furthermore, states are more likely to engage in multilateral





alliances to help protect their maritime borders than take on security alone, such as with the Malacca Straits Patrol, or Operation Vantage (a 1961 British military operation in support of Kuwait).

Sharing similar fears about offensive compellence in the Indo-Pacific has strengthened partnerships such as the India–Japan bilateral relationship. The two countries have worked together as permanent allies on maritime exercises such as *Exercise Malabar*, alongside the United States.⁸² Through intertwining strategic interests and trust with the sharing of operational capabilities, the relationship has also moved to include Australia occasionally in *Exercise Malabar*, but mainly within The Quad, a quadrilateral partnership that also includes the United States and is designed to combat the rising aggressiveness in the South China Sea.⁸³

Recommendations

To combat offensive compellence, Australia needs to give priority to building alliances and ensuring collective security in Asia. Doing so will help secure both domestic and regional vulnerabilities, as well as reducing tensions through support. Deterrence and diplomacy can be used to combat a coercive force without sacrificing the international rules-based order and moral legitimacy. Naval power, through the use of influence, a shared commitment to good order and collective security within the Indo-Pacific, is of utmost importance.

Recommendation 1: Review and Update Australia's Maritime Strategy

Description: The creation of the trilateral security alliance AUKUS for the Indo-Pacific, which involves only Anglosphere states, has caused concerns with regional leaders.⁸⁴ The agreement between Australia, the United Kingdom and the United States involves the acquisition of eight nuclear-powered submarines for Australia, leading some ASEAN member states to raise concerns about the possibility of a nuclear arms race in the Indo-Pacific.⁸⁵ Australia's Foreign Minister has emphasised the need for transparency in the region, which is being achieved by resuming in-person diplomacy to appease Indonesian and Malaysian concerns, as well as by bolstering regional relationships in preparation for a 'comprehensive strategic partnership' between Australia and ASEAN.⁸⁶ With Cambodia taking over the chairmanship of ASEAN for 2022, Australia will need to tread carefully because of Cambodia's alignment with China.⁸⁷ Cambodia has already displayed strong support for China by objecting to multiple joint communiqués condemning China's actions in the South China Sea, and it therefore could hinder Australia's interests because of China's strong disapproval of the proposed nuclear submarines.⁸⁸

OUR VALUES





Action: The RAN, with support from the Australian government, should update its maritime strategy to increase transparency about its strategic interests and missions in the region.⁸⁹ As the RAN's *Australian Maritime Doctrine* notes, 'Australia's strategic approach requires a principally maritime strategy', due to the country's inherent reliance on the sea for communication, operations and security.⁹⁰ The maritime strategies discussed by military experts and academics range from technological approaches to protection of communication and trade, as well as regional multilateral strategies and deterrence.⁹¹ Australia is long overdue to review its strategy, as the stability of the maritime region continues to shift due to offensive compellence challenging the international rules-based order.⁹² The last maritime strategy tabled to the Australian Parliament was in 2004, nearly two decades ago.⁹³ A dedicated strategic document could ease allies' fears over the use of nuclear-powered submarines in the Indo-Pacific, as well as enshrining the significance of alliance-building and multilateral partnerships contributing to collective security.

Recommendation 2: Strengthen Vulnerabilities in Shipping routes by Building Alliances

Description: Australia is extremely reliant on maritime trade, with 98 per cent of all trade entering through ports.⁹⁴ As an island nation, Australia's livelihood is vulnerable to any disruptions to shipping routes and thus supply chains. The Straits of Malacca is a significant chokepoint, not just for Australia, but all of Asia, as it is the shortest and most economical shipping route that connects the Indian Ocean and the Pacific Ocean.⁹⁵ Although the Australian Institute of Petroleum assessed that shipping lanes were safe and not easily disrupted, it failed to consider the concentration of ships attempting to find alternative routes, militia blockades, or the result of other nations' ships being disabled.⁹⁶ With shipping costs already increasing fivefold for Australians in 2021, and the fact that 90 per cent of all fuel and medicine has to be imported into Australia, a potential halt to a supply chain due to an incident in the Straits of Malacca could be catastrophic.⁹⁷

Action: Australia should continue to develop relationships by initiating naval exercises with the Malacca Straits Patrol, which also includes Thailand, as it would be an essential contingency in the case of a disruption or terrorist attack in the Straits of Malacca.⁹⁸ As the Straits of Malacca are within territorial waters, Australia requires the permission of either Indonesia, Malaysia or Singapore to assist.⁹⁹ Thus, as Australia is already involved in Operation Gateway with Malaysia, naval exercises with the MSP would set a strong foundation to strengthen information sharing in the region through common interest.¹⁰⁰ The naval exercises will enable Australia to respond more quickly and effectively to an emergency, since we





would have practised coordination with each state's operations system. This is essential to a quick resolution of any kind of disruption within the Straits, as trust and transparency are critical to balancing instability in the Indo-Pacific.

Conclusion

This paper sought to understand how previous theories about coercion and sea power link to the contemporary maritime environment. Offensive compellence (see Figure 1) is a challenge for Australia to combat within the international rules-based order. Australia should use deterrence and diplomacy, such as naval exercises, maritime alliance-building and aid within the Indo-Pacific, as influential tools.

A discussion of coercion and sea power theory through key thinkers such as Mahan, Schelling, George, Booth and Cable demonstrates the conflicting ideas about maritime strategy around common underlying themes. The maritime coercion framework was created to tie together theory across the 20th century and demonstrate its application in a world where maritime law is predominantly governed within the international system. Case studies pulled from Appendix A demonstrate how the framework applies to historical instances of maritime coercion in the period following the creation of the United Nations.

Two recommendations were detailed as to how Australia can combat offensive compellence in the Indo-Pacific. Firstly, a review of Australia's maritime strategy will demonstrate Australia's commitment to shared collective security and good order. This will strengthen partnerships amid changes in regional security, especially in response to the concerns in many ASEAN states because of Australia's involvement in AUKUS. Secondly, an improved commitment to naval exercises operating within vulnerable shipping routes will increase the security of supply chains, with the added benefit of strengthening regional relationships. This will help contribute to the protection of Australia's heavy reliance on trade, as well as helping neighbouring states with additional sharing of information and intelligence. By demonstrating dedication to relationships within the region as well as outside states with vying interests, Australia will create stronger levels of trust, essential to combatting coercion in the Indo-Pacific through influence.

OUR VALUES





Appendix A – Application of historical case studies to the Maritime Coercion Framework (see Figure 1)

Incident	Year	Typology	Action	Parties affected
Sinking of INS <i>Khukri</i> (Indo- Pakistani War of 1971)	1971	Offensive Compellence	Sinking of Indian submarine.	Pakistan (perpetrator); India (target); Provisional government of Bangladesh (participant).
Operation Rosario (Falklands War)	1982	Offensive Compellence	Amphibious operation to capture the Falkland Islands.	Argentina (perpetrator); United Kingdom (target).
Battles of Yeonpyeong (Korean conflict)	1999, 2002	Offensive Compellence	North Korean vessels crossed maritime boundary and attacked South Korean patrol boats.	Democratic People's Republic of Korea (perpetrator); Republic of Korea (target).
Sinking of ROKS <i>Cheonan</i> (Korean conflict)	2010	Offensive Compellence	South Korean corvette sunk by an adversary. North Korea denied responsibility.	Democratic People's Republic of Korea (alleged perpetrator); Republic of Korea (target).
Naval Quarantine (Cuban Missile Crisis)	1962	Defensive Compellence	In response to nuclear weapons in Cuba, US Navy implemented a 'naval quarantine'.	United States (initiator); Cuba, Soviet Union (target)
Maritime Interception Force (MIF 1) (Persian Gulf War)	1990– 1991	Defensive Compellence	United Nations Security Council used maritime forces to impose sanctions on Iraq for its invasion of Kuwait (S/RES/665).	United Nations, 17 nations including United States and Australia (initiators); Iraq (target).
Operation Maritime Guard (Yugoslavia)	1992– 1993	Defensive Compellence	Blockaded ships to inspect cargo as per United Nations further sanctions on Yugoslavia (S/RES/787).	NATO (initiator); Yugoslavia (target).
Operation Sharp Guard (Yugoslavia)	1993– 1996	Defensive Compellence	Continuation of Operation Maritime Guard with a further multinational response.	NATO, Western European Union (initiators); Yugoslavia (target).
Operation Vantage	1961	Deterrence	British maritime forces agreed to support and protect Kuwait through naval resources from Iraq after they claimed independence.	Kuwait (initiator); United Kingdom(support); Iraq (target).
Exercise Malabar	1992–	Deterrence	A joint military exercise primarily between US, Japan and India.	United States, Japan, India (permanent participants); Australia, Singapore, Canada (participants).
Malacca Straits Patrol	2004–	Deterrence	Multinational effort to reduce piracy and other	Indonesia, Malaysia. Singapore, Thailand (participants).

OUR VALUES

COURAGE

RESPECT

INTEGRITY

1





			maritime issues in the Malacca Straits.	
Saettia MK4 class – Iraqi Navy	2006–	Deterrence	Sourcing of patrol boats to protect EEZs.	Iraq (participant).
United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS)	1982–	Diplomacy	International treaty that establishes an international framework for all maritime activities.	167 states (participants).
International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea	1982–	Diplomacy	Intergovernmental organisation created as a mechanism for dispute resolutions about maritime issues.	167 states (participants).
Operation Sumatra Assist (HMAS Kanimbla)	2004	Diplomacy	Utilised in response to 2004 Indian Ocean Earthquake – provided humanitarian aid.	Australia (participant).
AUKUS	2021 -	Diplomacy	Trilateral security alliance with primary focus of operations in the Indo- Pacific.	United States, United Kingdom, Australia (participants).

¹ United Nations, "Chapter I: Purposes and Principles (Articles 1–2)." United Nations Charter, published 1973. <u>https://www.un.org/en/about-us/un-charter/chapter-1</u>; General Assembly, "Secretary-General Calls for Renewed Commitment to Rules-Based Order, Reformed, Reinvigorated, Strengthened Multilateral System, as General Debate Opens," published 25 September 2018, <u>https://www.un.org/press/en/2018/ga12062.doc.htm</u>.

² Sea Power Centre Australia, *Australian Maritime Doctrine: RAN Doctrine 1–2010* (Canberra: Royal Australian Navy, 2010), p. 186.

³ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence (Connecticut: Yale University Press, 1966).

⁴ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence, pp. 71-72.

⁵ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence, p. 74.

⁶ George, A L, Forceful Persuasion: Coercive Diplomacy as an Alternative to War (US Institute of Peace Press, Washington

DC, 1991); Cable, J, Gunboat Diplomacy, 1919–1991, 3rd ed. (London: Macmillan Press, 1994).

⁷ George, A L, Forceful Persuasion, p. 5.

⁸ George, A L, *Forceful Persuasion*, p. 7.

⁹ Mahan, A T, *Mahan on Naval Warfare: Selections from the Writings of Rear Admiral Alfred T. Mahan*, edited by Westcott, A, 2nd ed. (Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1942), p. 21.







¹⁰ Grove, E, *The Future of Sea Power* (London: Routledge, 1990), p. 3; Booth, K, *Law, Force and Diplomacy at Sea* (London: George Allen & Unwin, 1985), p. 38.

¹¹ Till, G, Seapower: A Guide for the Twenty-First Century, 4th ed. (New York: Routledge, 2018), p. 25.

¹² Goldrick, J, "Allied Maritime Strategy from an Australian Perspective," in *From the North Atlantic to the South China Sea*, edited by Pawlak, J and Peters, J, Contemporary South Asia, p. 241, doi: 10.1080/09584935.2017.1362202.

¹³ Sea Power Centre Australia, Australian Maritime Doctrine, p. 206.

¹⁴ Roehrig, T, "North Korea and the Northern Limit Line," *North Korean Review* 5, no. 1 (2009), p. 9, http://www.jstor.org/stable/43910259.

¹⁵ United Nations, "Overview – Convention & Related Agreements," United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, 2018, https://www.un.org/Depts/los/convention_agreements/convention_overview_convention.htm.

¹⁶ United Nations, United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea – Part V, 1994, https://www.un.org/depts/los/convention_agreements/texts/unclos/part5.htm.

¹⁷ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence; George, A L, Forceful Persuasion; Booth, K, Law, Force and Diplomacy at Sea.

¹⁸ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence, p. 74.

¹⁹ George, A L, *Forceful Persuasion*, p. 7.

²⁰ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence, pp. 71–74; George, A L, Forceful Persuasion, pp. 5–7.

²¹ Al Jazeera, "ASEAN Summit Begins without Myanmar after Top General Barred," *Al Jazeera*, 26 October 2021, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/10/26/asean-summit-begins-without-myanmar-after-top-generals-exclusion.

²² Clarke, M, "Forget Net-Zero by 2050. Pacific Leaders Say Halving Emissions by 2030 Is Needed to Limit Climate Change," ABC News, 6 October 2021, https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021–10–06/pacific-leaders-push-emissions-reduction-2030-net-zero-2050/100517846.

²³ United Nations, "Chapter I."

²⁴ Van Dyke, J M, Valencia, M J, and Garmendia, J M, "The North/South Korea Boundary Dispute in the Yellow (West) Sea," *Marine Policy* 23 (2003), p. 143, doi:10.1016/S0308–597X(02)00088-X.

²⁵ Roehrig, T, "North Korea and the Northern Limit Line," *North Korean Review* 5, no. 1 (2009), p 9, <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/43910259</u>.

²⁶ Macfie, N, "Factbox: The Battles of the Korean West Sea," *Reuters*, 29 November 2010, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-korea-north-clashes-idUSTRE6AS1AL20101129</u>.







²⁷ ROK Navy, KIMS, and SLOC Study Group – KOREA, *The Role of the Navy in Countering New Security Threats* (The 8th International Seapower Symposium: ROK Sea Power League, 2003), pp. 358–59.

²⁸ "Korean Peninsula Cold War Tensions Return," *Asian Defence Journal*, August 2002, p. 3; Van Dyke, J M, Valencia, M J, and Garmendia, J M, "The North/South Korea Boundary Dispute," p. 145.

²⁹ Van Dyke, J M, Valencia, M J, and Garmendia, J M, "The North/South Korea Boundary Dispute," p. 145. Roehrig, T, "North Korea," p. 11.

³⁰ Roehrig, T, "North Korea," p. 12.

³¹ Blinka, J and Kríz, Z, "Security Relations Between the DPRK and South Korea After the End of Cold War: Reciprocity or Bullying?" *Politické Vedy*, no. 2 (2015), p. 57.

³² Blinka, J and Kríz, Z, "Security Relations," p. 57.

³³ Stevens, D and Perryman, J, "Gulf War I – Operation DAMASK," Royal Australian Navy, accessed 5 November 2021, https://www.navy.gov.au/history/feature-histories/gulf-war-i-operation-damask.

³⁴ United Nations, "Chapter VII: Action with Respect to Threats to the Peace, Breaches of the Peace, and Acts of Aggression

(Articles 39–51)," United Nations Charter, United Nations, 1973, <u>https://www.un.org/en/about-us/un-charter/chapter-7</u>.

³⁵ Australian War Memorial. "Maritime Interception Force (MIF 1) 1990–1991," Australian War Memorial Collection, accessed 2 October 2021, <u>//www.awm.gov.au/collection/CN500133</u>; International Committee of the Red Cross, "UN Security Council, Sanctions Imposed Upon Iraq," accessed 17 October 2021, <u>https://casebook.icrc.org/case-study/un-security-council-sanctions-imposed-upon-iraq</u>.

³⁶ United Nations Security Council, "Security Council Resolution 665," United Nations Security Council Resolutions, published 1990, <u>http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/665</u>.

³⁷ Department of Veterans' Affairs, "Australians Involved in the Gulf War 1990 to 1991," DVA Anzac Portal, updated 25 August 2021, <u>https://anzacportal.dva.gov.au/wars-and-missions/gulf-war</u>.

³⁸ United Nations Security Council, "Security Council Resolution 661," United Nations Security Council Resolutions, published 1990, <u>http://unscr.com/en/resolutions/661</u>.

³⁹ Stevens, D and Perryman, J, "Gulf War I."

⁴⁰ McLaughlin, R, "United Nations Mandated Naval Interdiction Operations in the Territorial Sea?" *International & Comparative Law Quarterly* 51, no. 2 (April 2002), p. 261, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/iclq/51.2.249</u>.

⁴¹ Conforti, B, "Non-Coercive Sanctions in the United Nations Charter: Some Lessons from the Gulf War Symposium: The Gulf War and Its Aftermath," *European Journal of International Law* 2, no. 2 (1991), p. 110.

OUR VALUES





⁴² Fielding, L E, "Maritime Interception: Centerpiece of Economic Sanctions in the New World Order,"
 Louisiana Law Review 53, no. 4 (1993), p. 1227.

⁴³ Ikrami, H, "Sulu-Sulawesi Seas Patrol: Lessons from the Malacca Straits Patrol and Other Similar Cooperative Frameworks," *The International Journal of Marine and Coastal Law* 33, no. 4 (13 November 2018), p. 805, https://doi.org/10.1163/15718085–12334092.

⁴⁴ Ministry of Defence, "Fact Sheet: The Malacca Straits Patrol," MINDEF Singapore, 21 April 2015, <u>https://www.mindef.gov.sg/web/portal/mindef/news-and-events/latest-releases/article-detail/2016/april/2016apr21-news-</u> releases-00134/.

⁴⁵ Bernama, "Malacca Straits Patrol Meeting to See Signing of Revised Procedures," Malaysiakini, 16 January 2020, https://www.malaysiakini.com/news/507308.

⁴⁶ Regional Cooperation Agreement on Combating Piracy and Armed Robbery against Ships in Asia, "Piracy and Armed Robbery Against Ships in Asia Annual Report 2020," Regional Cooperation Agreement on Combating Piracy and Armed Robbery against Ships in Asia, 2020, p. 10, <u>https://www.recaap.org/reports</u>.

⁴⁷ Toh, T W, "Theft of Cargo from Barges in Singapore Strait Soars to Five-Year High," *The Straits Times*, 22 August 2019, <u>https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/transport/theft-of-cargo-from-barges-in-singapore-strait-soars-to-a-five-year-high</u>.

⁴⁸ Ministry of Defence, "Fact Sheet"; Albek, A, "Understanding and Combating Piracy in the Sulu Sea," *Sea Power Soundings*, no. 21 (2021), p. 12.

49 Toh, T W, "Theft of Cargo."

⁵⁰ Lim, M Z, "Military Leaders from Four Littoral States Meet to Tackle Spike in Robberies in Singapore Strait," *The Straits Times*, 15 January 2020, <u>https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/military-leaders-from-four-littoral-states-meet-to-tackle-spike-in-robberies-in-singapore</u>.

⁵¹ Albek, A, "Understanding and Combating Piracy," p. 6.

⁵² Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade, "Chapter 2: Background," Australia's response to the Indian Ocean Tsunami, 22 June 2006,

https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary Business/Committees/Joint/Completed Inquiries/jfadt/tsunamiresponse/chapter2.

53 Taylor, "Australian Aceh," 2005. J, 'Kanimbla' Crew Arrive to Help in 14 January https://www.abc.net.au/am/content/2005/s1282055.htm; Royal Australian Navy, "HMAS Kanimbla (II)," accessed 1 November 2021, https://www.navy.gov.au/hmas-kanimbla-ii.

⁵⁴ Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade, "Chapter 2: Background."

RESPECT





⁵⁵ Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade, "Chapter 6: Humanitarian Relief" Issue : 44 | 2022

Operations," Review of the Defence Annual Report 2003-2004, 2004,

https://www.aph.gov.au/~/media/wopapub/house/committee/jfadt/defenceannualreport_2003_2004/report/chapter6_pdf.ash x.

⁵⁶ Greet, N, "ADF Experience on Humanitarian Operations: A New Idea?", Security Challenges 4, no. 2 (2008), p. 52.

⁵⁷ Leschen, P, "Operation Sumatra Assist," Journal of the Australian Naval Institute, no. 119 (Summer 2006), p. 35.

⁵⁸ Joint Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade, "Chapter 2: Background."

⁵⁹ Greet, N, "ADF Experience," p. 52.

⁶⁰ Taylor, J, "Australian 'Kanimbla' Crew Arrive"; Greet, N, "ADF Experience," p. 52.

⁶¹ United Nations, "Chapter I".

⁶² Till, G, *Seapower*, p. 25; Grove, E, "Seapower," in *International Security in the Modern World*, edited by Carey, R and Salmon, T C (London: Palgrave Macmillan UK, 1996), p. 207, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978–1-349–10772–8_11</u>.

⁶³ Seebeck, L, "Zeroing in on the Grey Zone in the Indo-Pacific," *The Strategist*, 24 June 2021, <u>https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/zeroing-in-on-the-grey-zone-in-the-indo-pacific/</u>.

⁶⁴ Phillips, T, Holmes, O, and Bowcott, O, "Beijing Rejects Tribunal's Ruling in South China Sea Case," *The Guardian*, 12 July 2016, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/jul/12/philippines-wins-south-china-sea-case-against-china</u>.

⁶⁵ Chaudhury, D J, "China's Aggression in South China Sea Faces Strong Global Pushback," *The Economic Times*, 29 October 2021, <u>https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/chinas-aggression-in-south-china-sea-faces-strong-global-pushback/articleshow/87351835.cms</u>.

⁶⁶ Singh, A, "What China's Coercion at Sea Means for India," *The Strategist*, 6 February 2020, <u>https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/what-chinas-coercion-at-sea-means-for-india/;</u> BBC News, "South China Sea Dispute: Huge Chinese 'Fishing Fleet' Alarms Philippines," *BBC News*, 21 March 2021, <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-56474847;</u> Chaudhury, D J, "China's Aggression."

⁶⁷ Patalano, A, "When Strategy Is 'Hybrid' and Not 'Grey': Reviewing Chinese Military and Constabulary Coercion at Sea," *The Pacific Review* 31, no. 6 (2 November 2018), p. 818, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09512748.2018.1513546</u>.

⁶⁸ Morris, L J, "Gray Zone Challenge in the East and South China Sea," *Maritime Issues*, 7 January 2019, <u>http://www.maritimeissues.com/politics/gray-zone-tactics-and-their-challenge-to-maritime-security-in-the-east-and-south-china-sea.html</u>.

⁶⁹ Chaudhury, D J, "China's Aggression"; Layton, P, "Bringing the Grey Zone into Focus," *Lowy Institute*, 22 July 2021, <u>https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/bringing-grey-zone-focus;</u> Hanson, F, Currey, E, and Beattie, T, "The Chinese

OUR VALUES

RESPECT

INTEGRITY





Communist Party's Coercive Diplomacy," Australian Strategic Policy Institute, 1 September 2020,

https://www.aspi.org.au/report/chinese-communist-partys-coercive-diplomacy.

70 Sea," Baviera, "Power in South China 2011, S P. Asymmetry Inquirer.net, 26 June Α https://opinion.inquirer.net/6896/power-asymmetry-in-south-china-sea.

⁷¹ Sea Power Centre Australia, Australian Maritime Doctrine, p. 99.

⁷² Baviera, A S P, "Power Asymmetry."

⁷³ Schelling, T C, Arms and Influence, p.172.

⁷⁴ Bowers, I, "Power Asymmetry and the Role of Deterrence in the South China Sea," *The Korean Journal of Defence Analysis* 29, no. 4 (2017), p. 568.
⁷⁵ Wilson, B, "Responding to Asymmetric Threats in the Maritime Domain: Diplomacy, Law and Naval Operations,"

Maritime Affairs: Journal of the National Maritime Foundation of India 5, no. 2 (July 2, 2010), p. 74, https://doi.org/10.1080/09733150903429551.

⁷⁶ Phillips, T, Holmes, O, and Bowcott, O, "Beijing Rejects Tribunal's Ruling in South China Sea Case," *The Guardian*, 12
 July 2016, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/jul/12/philippines-wins-south-china-sea-case-against-china</u>.

⁷⁷ Appendix A.

⁷⁸ United Nations, "Chapter I."

⁷⁹ Baviera, A S P, "Power Asymmetry."

⁸⁰ Australian War Memorial, "Maritime Interception Force."; Van Dyke, J M, Valencia, M J, and Garmendia, J M, "The North/South Korea Boundary Dispute," p. 147.

⁸¹ Phillips, T, Holmes, O, and Bowcott, O, "Beijing Rejects Tribunal's Ruling"; Roehrig, T, "North Korea," p. 10.

⁸² US Embassy, "Australia, India, Japan, and U.S. Kick-Off Exercise MALABAR 2021," U.S. Embassy & Consulates in India, 26 August 2021, <u>https://in.usembassy.gov/australia-india-japan-and-u-s-kick-off-exercise-malabar-2021/;</u> Garge, R, "The India–Japan Strategic Partnership: Evolving Synergy in the Indo-Pacific," *Australian Journal of Maritime & Ocean Affairs* 8, no. 3 (2 July 2016), p. 258, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18366503.2016.1235362</u>.

⁸³ Garge, R, "MALABAR-2015 – Emerging Collective Defence in the Indo-Pacific," *Australian Journal of Maritime & Ocean Affairs* 7, no. 4 (2 October 2015), p. 253, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18366503.2015.1130312</u>; Department of Defence, "Australia Back for Indo-Pacific Maritime Exercise MALABAR," 23 August 2021, <u>https://news.defence.gov.au/media/media-releases/australia-back-indo-pacific-maritime-exercise-malabar</u>; Abadi, A M, "Preparing for War: Assessing the US-Quad from Realist Institutionalism Perspective," *Hasanuddin Journal of Social & Political Sciences* 1 (2021), p. 50.





⁸⁴ Tewari, S, "Aukus: UK, US and Australia Pact Signals Asia-Pacific Power Shift," BBC News, 16 September 2021, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-58540808; Nicholson, B, "Australia's Sharpest Minds' Needed Pull off Nuclear Submarine Plan," The 29 October 2021, to Strategist, https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/australias-sharpest-minds-needed-to-pull-off-nuclear-submarine-plan/.

⁸⁵ Hurst, D, "Australian Foreign Minister Seeks to Allay South-East Asia Fears That Nuclear Submarines Will Stir up Conflict," *The Guardian*, 5 November 2021, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2021/nov/06/australian-foreign-minister-seeks-to-allay-south-east-asia-fears-that-nuclear-submarines-will-stir-up-conflict</u>.

⁸⁶ Dziedzic, S, "Foreign Minister to Visit South-East Asia to Ease Fears over Nuclear Submarine Plan," *ABC News*, 2 November 2021, <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021–11–03/foreign-minister-marise-payne-in-se-asia-to-rally-aukussupport/100589452</u>; Dziedzic, S, "Australia Makes New Strategic Pact with South-East Asian Nations at ASEAN Summit," *ABC News*, 27 October 2021, <u>https://www.abc.net.au/news/2021–10–28/australian-asean-pact-strategic-region-aukus/100574810</u>.

⁸⁷ Po, S and Primiano, C B, "An 'Ironclad Friend': Explaining Cambodia's Bandwagoning Policy towards China," *Journal of Current Southeast Asian Affairs* 39, no. 3 (1 December 2020), p. 447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1868103420901879</u>.

⁸⁸ Thul, P C, "China's Wang Yi Offers Aid and Vaccines to Ally Cambodia," *Reuters*, 12 September 2021, <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/china/chinas-wang-yi-offers-aid-vaccines-ally-cambodia-2021–09–12/;</u> Dunst, C, "What to Expect of Cambodia as ASEAN Chair," Center for Strategic & International Studies, 4 November 2021, <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/what-expect-cambodia-asean-chair;</u> Po, S and Primiano, C B, "An 'Ironclad Friend': Explaining Cambodia's Bandwagoning Policy towards China," *Journal of Current Southeast Asian Affairs* 39, no. 3 (1 December 2020), p. 447, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1868103420901879</u>.

⁸⁹ Strating, R, "Strategy at Sea: A Plan B for Australian Maritime Security?" *Security Challenges* 16, no. 2 (2020), p. 70; Evans, M, *The Third Way: Towards an Australian Maritime Strategy for the Twenty-First Century*, Army Research Paper, no.1 (2014), p. 22.

⁹⁰ Sea Power Centre Australia, Australian Maritime Doctrine, p. 48.

⁹¹ Layton, P, "Australia's Many 'Maritime Strategies," *The Strategist,* 27 March 2013, <u>https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/australias-many-maritime-strategies/</u>.

92 Strating, R, "Strategy at Sea," p. 60.

⁹³ The Royal Australian Navy has brought out supportive documents in the meantime: the *Australian Maritime Doctrine* (2010), which discusses theory and strategic thought behind maritime power, and *Australian Maritime Operations* (2017), which expands on organisation, preparation and approach for maritime operations through the Sea Power Centre; Joint

OUR VALUES





Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs Defence and Trade, "Australia's Maritime Strategy," 21 June 2004, Australia,

https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Joint/Completed_Inquiries/jfadt/maritime/report#fullreport.

⁹⁴ Ports Australia, "Trade," Ports Australia, accessed 1 November 2021, <u>https://www.portsaustralia.com.au/value-of-ports/economy</u>.

⁹⁵ Forbes, A, and Sea Power Centre Australia, *Asian Energy Security: Regional Cooperation in the Malacca Strait* (Canberra: Sea Power Centre Australia, 2008), p. 183; Jariod, E V, and Martínez de Osés, F X, "The Role of the Malacca Strait in the One Belt, One Road Initiative," Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, Departament de Ciència i Enginyeria Nàutiques, 2020, 69, <u>https://upcommons.upc.edu/handle/2117/329696</u>.

⁹⁶ Australian Institute of Petroleum, "Security of Shipping Lanes," Australian Institute of Petroleum, published 1 September 2021, <u>https://www.aip.com.au/resources/security-shipping-lanes</u>.

⁹⁷ Phillip Coorey, "Australia Dangerously Dependent on Medical Imports," Australian Financial Review, 17 February 2020, <u>https://www.afr.com/politics/federal/australia-dangerously-dependent-on-medical-imports-20200217-p541ej;</u> Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources, "Australia's Fuel Security Package," Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources, 2021, <u>https://www.energy.gov.au/government-priorities/energy-security/australias-fuel-security-package</u>. ⁹⁸ Ministry of Defence, "Fact Sheet."

⁹⁹ The Nippon Foundation, "Safety in the Straits of Malacca and Singapore," The Nippon Foundation, accessed 1 November 2021, <u>https://www.nippon-foundation.or.jp/en/what/projects/safe_passage</u>.

¹⁰⁰ Department of Defence, "Operation Gateway," Commonwealth of Australia; accessed 24 October 2021, <u>https://www.defence.gov.au/operations/gateway-south-china-sea-and-indian-ocean</u>.

OUR VALUES

SERVICE COURAGE RESPECT INTEGRITY EXCELLENCE